2001

Lincoln Financial Corp. dba Chevy Chase Apartments v. Dorothy S. Ferrier : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action in Unlawful Detainer brought by the Respondent against the Appellant wherein the Respondent sought to obtain a Judgment in Unlawful Detainer in accordance with the provisions of Title 78, Chapter 36, Utah Code Annotated, as amended 1953, together with attorney's fees.

The Appellant filed an Answer alleging the affirmative defense of retaliatory eviction resulting from the Appellant's assertion of her constitutional rights provided under Article 1,

Section 1 and 15, of the Constitution of the State of Utah and as provided for under the Constitution of the United States in the First, Fifth, and Fourteenth Amendments.

The Counterclaim of the Appellant sets forth allegations of the wilful, wanton, and malicious acts of the Respondent against the person and property of the Appellant by the Respondent, seeking a denial by the Court to Respondent's action in Unlawful Detainer, upon the premise of the action being a retaliatory eviction because Appellant's assertion of her right to freedom of speech and her right to be free from harassment and enjoy freedom of association in her chosen place of abode.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The Lower Court granted the Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment on its action of Unlawful Detainer, awarded to the Respondent triple damages for Unlawful Detainer, even though there had been a prepayment of rental monies due and owing into the Court prior to time of trial, granted attorney fees and ordered that the Answer of the Appellant and her Counterclaim be stricken as a sham.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of the Judgment and final Order of the Lower Court, which denied to the Appellant the

right to a trial and hearing on her Counterclaim, a reversal of the Judgment of Unlawful Detainer for triple damages and the award of \$500.00 attorney's fees granted by the Lower Court to the Respondent.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Appellant resided with her daughter (R-5A) in an apartment complex known as Chevy Chase, wherein the Appellant paid \$175.00 a month as rental thereon. The Appellant rented the premises on December 2, 1974, paying rent in advance plus a \$50.00 deposit as a security deposit to guarantee compliance with all of the terms of a standard Monthly Rental Agreement used by apartment complexes generally (R-5A).

The premises were owned by an absentee financial corporation under a resident manager named Clarence Johnson. Appellant sought to circulate a Petition among the many residents of the apartment complex seeking to oust the manager, because of the conduct of the Respondent's manager in seeking to prevent tenants from conversing with each other, eavesdropping on tenants, prevent adult visitors to enter the premises of the Appellant, except upon hours set by the management; the committing of acts of vandalism as against the premises and property of the Appellant, damage to the motor vehicle of the Appellant, and

acts in violation of the sensibility of the Appellant by placing objects and materials in the entrance to the premises of the Appellant. The Appellant sets forth all of these various acts in the Counterclaim of the Appellant (R-9, R-12).

The Respondent brought an action of Unlawful Detainer against the Appellant for the purpose of preventing the Appellant from continuing the circulation of Petitions seeking the ouster of the manager. (R-10)

The Appellant filed an Answer and a verified Counterclaim, which was subscribed to under oath by the Appellant, which Answer and Counterclaim bore the typed signature of Attorney Pete N. Vlahos as Attorney for the Counterclaimant, Defendant and Appellant, (R-8 through R-12). The Appellant further filed with the Clerk of the Court tender of rent by tenant in submitting rent for the months of July and August, further setting forth that rent monies would continue to be deposited with the Clerk of the Court as they became due in accordance with the terms of the Rental Agreement for so long as the Counterclaimant would remain a tenant on said premise. The tender of rent by tenant was subscribed to by the Attorney for the Appellant (R-15).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

AWARD OF ATTORNEY'S FEES IS ERROR.

The Court rendered a Judgment in the Respondent's

action in Unlawful Detainer granting a Motion for Summary Judgment to the Respondent, together with attorney's fees in the sum of \$500.00, and costs taxed in the sum of \$24.90.

The Court subscribed to the Findings of Fact and Conclusion of Law in its granting of Summary Judgment, alleging that:

Pursuant to the terms of paragraph three of said Rental Agreement and Title 78, Chapter 36, Section 3(2), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, the Plaintiff (Respondent) caused a notice to quit the said premises***, that by the terms of said Rental Agreement, particularly paragraph 9 thereof, the Plaintiff is entitled to recover its reasonable attorney's fees incurred herein, which the Court determines to be \$500.00, together with Plaintiff's taxable costs incurred herein. (R-26,R-27) (Emphasis added)

This Court held in Forrester vs. Cook, et al, 292 P.

206, October 11, 1930:

Although a contract between the parties to the action provided for the payment of attorney's fees, other costs, and damages for Unlawful Detainer, that an action brought for an Unlawful Detainer is not an action to enforce an agreement, and that the action is summary and limited and is one for recovery of possession of property and damages because of the unlawful detention. The law and not the contract fixes the measure of damages. No provision is made in the law for an attorney's fee in this sort of action.

This Court again had reason to reconsider the Forrester vs. Cook, et al, supra, decision in the case of Leone vs. Zuniga, 34 P.2d at page 703, and again reiterated the law as expounded in Forrester vs. Cook, stating that the rule as announced is

controlling and that attorney's fee may not properly be allowed in a suit for Unlawful Detainer.

Upon the Courts award of attorney's fees to the Respondent, Counsel for Appellant remonstrated to the Court:

MR. VLAHOS: Will the Court also entertain my submitting to the Court the Utah decision on attorney's fees, or does the Court desire that brought at a proper proceeding, or will the Court entertain it just by submitting the case to you.

THE COURT: I have awarded him attorney's fees.
(R-59)

It is submitted to the Court that there is no previous basis for the award of attorney's fee in an action of Unlawful Detainer as established by the law of this State or the decisions of this Court and also by the Courts of the State of California from which this Court acknowledged in the Forrester vs. Cook case, that the exact Statute of Unlawful Detainer was taken.

POINT II

TRIPLE DAMAGE SHOULD NOT BE ARBITRARILY AWARDED.

The Appellant was not delinquent in rent at the time of the giving of notice of termination of tenancy. The notice that was given on June 10, 1975, advised the Appellant that the occupancy of the Appellant would be terminated as of June 30, but did not set forth in the legal notice the year, only the

month and day for the termination of the tenancy; was not given for delinquency of rent; but for reasons which the Appellant has alleged in her Counterclaim and will be subsequently set forth herein in this Brief to the Court. (R-5A)

The Appellant at the time of filing an Answer and a Counterclaim alleged that rent had been tendered on July 1, 1975, and was refused by the Respondent, and further, that upon the filing of the Complaint, a tender of rent was made by the tenant paying rent for the months of July and August in the amount of \$350.00 to the Clerk of the Court by a Cashiers Check. The check was made payable to Dorothy Ferrier and endorsed in blank by her and deposited with the Clerk of the District Court. The tender further set forth that rent monies would continue to be deposited with the Clerk of the Court as same shall become due, in accordance with the terms of the Rental Agreement, for so long as the Counterclaimant shall remain a tenant on said premises. (R-15)

In Cole vs. Cole, 122 P.2d 201, 101 Ut. 355, the Court stated:

Generally where a tender is made which, if accepted, is intended to operate as payment of the debt, the tender, if rejected, must be kept good, which is ordinarily done by bringing or depositing the money into Court, since in case the tender is by check, the check is not payment unless expressly accepted as such.

In Hepburn & Dundas vs. Auld, 5 U.S. 321, the Court

stated:

Tender and refusal are equal to performance by party making tender.

A tender of rent having been made on July 1 and August 1, and the funds for the months of July and August for the monthly rent of \$175.00 having been paid into the Court, the loss or damages to the Respondent were a nullity, in that the Respondent could have collected rents for July and August when tendered. The Court has indicated in the Forrester vs. Cook case, supra, that the provision for damages in three times the amount of damages is highly penal and, therefore, is subject to strict construction. The Court stated that damages only may be trebled, and there has been no claim for waste to the premises, nor any other damages and there could have been no damages assessed by the Court by virtue of the tender of payment for July and August by the Appellant to the Respondent and the paying into the Court at time of suit of the monies due and owing for rent, and therefore, the Court erred in awarding triple the amount of rent proffered and refused by the Respondent.

The Court is advised that there was no discovery of any kind made in this action and that the filing of a Complaint and the filing of a verified Answer and Counterclaim is the only quality of evidence that was before the Court when the Court

awarded in addition to the July and August rental monies allegedly due for rent to September 10, which the Court tripled by its award.

The attention of the Court is called to the "testimony" of Counsel for the Respondent when he represented to the Court, that the tenant (Appellant) occupied the premises until September 10. Counsel alleges as a basis for his allegation, that the premises were not vacated until September 10 alleging as a basis that the keys have not allegedly been returned to the apartment manager, and further stated:

But we want the keys back. We want to be sure that we arn't set-up by going in there and finding some small items she has left behind. (R-64)

The Attorney for the Appellant stated to the Court that the Appellant "called me on the phone, that she was out last weekend". (R-47) The Counsel for the Appellant further testified, "My client in a phone call advised me that she notified the manager". (R-54)

Based upon the statements by both Counsel, the Court stated:

The Plaintiff is entitled to the Writ of Restitution and Judgment for the rent for July, August, and the first ten days of September. (R-54)

It is submitted to the Court that the testimony of neither Counsel is sufficient upon which to base a judgment as

an evidenciary fact as to when the premises were actually returned to the Respondent.

It was held in Pacific States Auxiliary Corporation vs. Farris, 5 P.2d 452, District Court of Appeals, California, November, 1931:

That such a determination may rest only upon legal evidence.

This principle of law was also set forth in Maher vs. Wilson, 139 Cal. 514, 73 P. 418, and in 26 CJ 862, wherein it states:

The power to fix the damages, compensatory or nominal, rests with the Trier of the Facts, but that body may rest its determination on legal evidence only.

It is submitted to this Honorable Court that there is no evidence whatsoever that is acceptable, that the return of the keys to the apartment was the first requisite to vacating the apartment, and secondly, that the testimony of either of the Counsel herein is an acceptable determination of the date of vacating of the premises, where both Counsel make opposite representations, and the representation made by Counsel for the Respondent, which is a declaration against the interest of the Respondent, states that the keys had not yet been returned and that was the basis of the allegation of continued occupancy of the apartment.

(R-64)

POINT III

THE SUBMISSION OF AN ANSWER AND A VERIFIED COUNTERCLAIM BY THE APPELLANT DID NOT CONSTITUTE A SHAM PLEADING.

The Court granted a Motion to strike the Answer and Counterclaim of the Appellant on the basis that the verified pleading of the Appellant, without the signature of the attorney thereto, constituted a sham pleading. (R-24) At the time that the attorney submitted the Answer and Counterclaim, which were verified and signed under oath by the Appellant, the attorney signed a pleading of a "Tender of Rent by Tenant" (R-15), and further, the attorney's typed block appeared on the face of the Answer and Counterclaim as Attorney for the Appellant.

This Court held in West Mountain Lime & Stone Company vs. Danley, 111 P. 647, that the requirement of the Code, requiring that the Complaint be subscribed by the party or his attorney, is sufficiently complied with if the Complaint is verified and such verification is signed and the authority cited is Harrison vs. Wright, 1 N.Y. St.P. 736; Barrett vs. Joslynn, 9 Misc. Reports 407, 29 N.Y.Supp. 1070; Railway vs. Bailey, 70 Oh. St. 88, 70 N.E. 900; State vs. Chadwick, 10 Ore. 423.

The Court further held:

In any event, such a defect must be objected to timely and specifically or it will be deemed waived. If such an objection is made, however, the Court will always permit the party to cure the defect

by subscribing the Complaint. (Emphasis added)

The record shows that the Attorney for the Appellant repeatedly offered to subscribe to the Complaint, if the Court deemed it to be necessary, at the time of the hearing on the Motion to Strike (R-47), and further cited to the Court the West Mountain Lime & Stone Company vs. Danley, supra, as authority to the Court. (R-47, R-50)

Counsel for Respondent stated to the Court, that if a party to an action can answer to a Complaint or sign a Counterclaim:

Then we are in a spot as far as judiciary and the legal system goes, because from henceforth on, any layman can practice law without a license to practice before the Supreme Court of Utah.

It is submitted to this Court, that the case here was before the District Court, not before the Supreme Court, and secondly, that it has been known for parties who are Defendants in an action to file their own Answer and even at times to file a Counterclaim, let alone a verified pleading.

The chaotic condition predicted for Utah if such were the case is not supported by the law of the State of California, wherein it is set forth in Title 6, Section 446, of the California Code under Verification of Pleadings:

Every pleading (except in Justice Courts when the pleadings are oral) shall be subscribed by the party or his attorney. (Emphasis added)

The California Code further provides:

Where a pleading is verified, it shall be by the Affidavit of a party, unless the parties are absent from the County where the attorney has his office, or from some cause unable to verify it, or the facts are within the knowledge of his attorney or other persons verifying the same. When the pleading is verified by the attorney, or any other person except one of the parties, he shall set forth in the Affidavit the reason why it is not made by one of the parties.

It is submitted to the Court that the State of California is not in a chaotic condition because of this Rule.

It is further submitted to this Court, that reference to the West Mountain Lime & Stone Company vs. Danley was made in the case of Christensen vs. Johnson, 61 P.2d 597, (1936), this Court stated that the law as announced in the West Mountain Lime & Stone Company case is in accord with the references made in Corpus Juris.

The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure under Rule 11 provide the identical language as in the Utah Rule, and it has been held in a number of cases, that:

The final disposition of a suit, as by dismissal of the action for Plaintiff's failure to comply with Rule 11 or the entry of a Judgment by Default against the Defendant for his noncompliance, is an ultimate sanction provided by the terms of the Rule, but which naturally should be invoked rarely, and certainly not for minor infractions.

Bareco Oil Company vs. Alexander, Northern District, Iowa, 1940, 33 F.Supp. 32; Universal Laboratories, Inc., vs.

Vivaudou, Inc., Southern District of New York, 1944, 8 Fr.Serv.
11.51.

In Harris vs. Municipal Court of City and County of Denver, et al, 134 P.2d 1055, Supreme Court of Colorado, May, 1951, was an action for violation in the Municipal Court of the City and County of Denver for violation of a municipal ordinance and was a civil proceedings instituted in a Court not of record, and the proceedings therein were governed by the laws and rules pertaining to civil procedure. There was a failure to sign the Complaint charging violation and the Court held:

There is no proof of wilful failure or refusal and no prejudice could be claimed by the Defendants if the Plaintiff were given leave to sign the pleading heretofore served.

In Holley Coal Company vs. Globe Indemnity Company, 4th Cir., 186 F.2d 291, the Court said:

That an unsigned pleading is not invalid.

In DeMontis vs. Potomac Electric Company, D.C. 1 F.R.D. 119, the Court stated:

If, then, we are to follow our repeatedly declared rule, that this is a civil action, governed by the Rules of Civil Procedure, we must hold that the failure to sign the Complaint was not jurisdictional, but is subject to correction upon being called to the attention of the Court.

It is, therefore, submitted to the Court, that the filing of the verified pleading by the Appellant and the continued offer

of Counsel to the Court of the willingness to subscribe to the pleadings if the Court deemed it necessary was not such a pleading as to constitute a sham pleading resulting in the striking of both the Answer and the Counterclaim of the Appellant, specifically in light of the fact that the Court itself found:

Well, I think the situation is that a person may represent himself, I don't think there is any question about that. But I think when he has Counsel, Counsel has to sign the pleadings. Now whether or not that's cured of it at this late date or not, I don't know. I believe, though, that there are paragraphs in the Counterclaim which may state a cause of action. (R-58)

POINT IV

RETALIATORY EVICTION IS A VALID DEFENSE IN AN ACTION OF UNLAWFUL DETAINER.

This doctrine comes into focus in the instant matter before the Court as set forth in the Counterclaim of the Appellant herein, wherein the facts as have been previously stated show, that the tenant resided with her daughter in the Chevy Chase Apartments (R-8, -9), a large non-slum apartment complex (R-4,-6), and even though not delinquent in rent was served with a Notice of Unlawful Detainer (R-5), and as set forth in the Counterclaim of the Appellant (R-9), alleges that the Appellant was being evicted from the premises because of her refusal to allow the manager of the apartment house to infringe upon her First Amendment

rights of freedom of speech in circulating a Petition among other tenants of the apartment complex; seeking removal of the manager as resulting from the constant harassment of the manager; by eavesdropping; preventing adult visitors to enter upon the premises of the Counterclaimant (the Appellant), except at hours set by the Respondent; and that the Respondent caused acts of vandalism to occur as against the premises and property of the appellant; and by acts in violation of the sensibility of the Appellant by placing objects and materials on the entrance to the premises of the Counterclaimant.

Inasmuch as the Rules of Pleading under the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure require merely a basic setting forth of elements of a case, the development of the exact type, quality, and quantity of the interference by the Respondent with the life and the right of the Appellant to live peacefully in her own home and have the freedoms that one would expect from residing in a non-slum apartment unit paying \$175.00 a month for rent, would have been developed by Discovery and trial.

The Appellant further alleged that the conduct of the Respondent was malicious, wanton, and wilful, and done for the purpose of harassing and intimidating the Appellant, and that as a direct and proximate result of the wilful, wanton, and malicious acts of the Respondent, the Appellant suffered mental anguish and anxiety, and feared for the safety of herself and her minor

child, and that the conduct of the Respondent was outrageous, intolerable, and in violation of the standards of the community by reason of the aforesaid conduct.

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