2001

# Lincoln Financial Corp. dba Chevy Chase Apartments v. Dorothy S. Ferrier : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

The Appellant acknowledges the better practice might be to separate the lease claims from the unlawful detainer claims in separate counts, but objection was not made thereto, both claims were based on a twenty day summons (rather than a three day), and it has always been the policy of the law to avoid multiplicity of actions.

The remaining significant public policy issue in this case involves the control of members of the bar by the courts in the judicial process.

The wave of the future may very well be the extensive use of paralegals by attorneys, for which see attached exhibits from recent periodicals. Paralegals are not subject to discipline nor control by the courts or bar associations. They are unidentified and anonymous, hiding behind the cloak of a licensed lawyer, yet wielding great power and authority when not totally supervised. An exconvict client of this writer suggests that the best lawyers in the country are in the penitentiaries, and the thought is intriguing as to what these paralegals could do if the bar associations and courts abdicate their authority.

#### POINT I

##### THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY AWARDED RESPONDENT REASONABLE ATTORNEY'S FEES.

The landlord-tenant relationship between Respondent and Appellant was based upon a written agreement which contained therein, paragraph 9, a provision for attorney's fees (R. 3). The complaint on file specifically refers to, and incorporates, said lease as a part of said complaint (R. 1-3, inc.). The action was commenced on a twenty day summons (R. 6), so that summary "unlawful detainer" proceedings are not inconsistent with an action on the lease.

This Court has held that reasonable attorney's fees may be awarded to the prevailing party when provided for by statute or contract. Blake v. Blake, 17 U.2d 369, 372, 412 P.2d 454; Pacific Coast Title v. Hartford Acc. & Ind. Co., 7 U.2d 377, 325 P.2d 906.

These proceedings were necessary because of Appellant's refusal to

vacate. Tender of rent after unlawful detainer arose is irrelevant, and acceptance of such rent by Respondent would have waived the unlawful detainer. 52A C.J.S., Landlord and Tenant, Sec. 724.

An argument can be made, as it was in Milliner v. Farmer, 24 U.2d 326, 471 P.2d 151, that a written lease is extinguished by commencement of unlawful detainer proceedings. This Court skirted the issue in the Milliner case by noting a stipulation in said case. The fact is, however, that an unlawful detainer proceeding is a cumulative remedy only, 52A C.J.S., Landlord and Tenant, Sec. 753 and 758, and Voyles v. Straka, supra, and that many issues involved in a lease cannot be resolved in an unlawful detainer proceeding. If this Court holds that a written lease and all provisions therein are extinguished by unlawful detainer proceedings, then, and in such event, an oral month to month tenancy is superior to a written lease, summary proceedings are not available to a landlord on a written lease without waiver of the lease, and the landlord will be deprived of one of the few protections he has, namely, of evicting a tenant efficiently and inexpensively without waiving such issues as damages to the premises and other breaches of the lease agreement which often can only be determined after eviction.

The Respondent respectfully suggests that much of the existing confusion concerning the applicability of the unlawful detainer law to written leases arises out of this Court's extension of the use of unlawful detainer to vendor-vendee transactions. Appellant has made a bold effort to perpetuate this confusion by citing Forrester v. Cook, 77 Utah 137, 292

Pac. 206, and Leone V. Zuniga, 84 Utah 417, 34 P.2d 699, both of which initially involved real estate contracts. The real estate contracts were forfeited, extinguished in theory, and the vendee was converted to a tenant at will, following which unlawful detainer proceedings were commenced. In other words, the vendor elected an option to extinguish the real estate contract, leaving only an oral landlord-tenant relationship in existence for the court to pass on in unlawful detainer proceedings. An action for unlawful detainer presupposes existence of the relation of landlord and tenant, Holladay Coal Co. v. Kirker, 20 Utah 192, 57 Pac. 882, and is not available for use in the vendor-vendee relationship. A written lease presupposes a landlord-tenant relationship and does not require any conversion to another relationship.

Incidentally, the Court will note that Appellant alleges and prays for attorneys fees in her counterclaim (R. 10-11) without either contract or statute to support the same. The writer would hope that one day this Court will explicitly rule on the propriety of such allegation and prayer, and whether such attorneys fees may be awarded as a part of damages where exemplary damages are claimed.

It is respectfully submitted that the Respondent did not waive its written lease by commencement of unlawful detainer proceedings, and that Respondent is entitled to the benefits of said lease cumulatively, and not in lieu of the unlawful detainer statutes.

## POINT II

### THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ARBITRARILY AWARD RESPONDENT TREBLE DAMAGES

The Appellant states her Point II in a manner that Respondent cannot disagree with. Of course, "triple damage should not be arbitrarily awarded." The issue is whether treble damages were arbitrarily awarded. And the arbitrariness of such award depends upon whether Appellant continued in unlawful detainer, and not whether she tendered rent.

The case of Forrester v. Cook, 77 Utah 137, 292 Pac. 206, so often cited by Appellant, on page 156 of Utah Reports quotes with approval from Eccles v. U. P. Coal Co., 15 Utah 14, 20, 48 Pac. 148, that "The Statute ... makes it mandatory upon the court to render judgment for three times the damages assessed" after a finding of damages. And the Forrester case, supra, also holds that rents and profits, or rental value, during the unlawful detention of the premises are included in damages, as damages and not rent. After the unlawful detainer arose, the tender of rent became irrelevant, because the wrong is in the detainer and not in failure to pay rent.

Both the lease agreement, paragraph 9, (R. 3) and Section 78-36-3(2), U.C.A., provide that the tenant may be directed to vacate upon fifteen days notice. The Respondent had the right to direct the Appellant to vacate for any legal reason, or for no reason at all. Callister v. Spencer, 113 Utah 497, 196 P.2d 714; Edwards v. Habib, 397 F.2d 687; App. Br. 18. The Respondent caused a notice to vacate to be served on the Appellant by the Weber County Sheriff's Office on June 10, 1975, some twenty days before the end of the month (R. 3-4). The Appellant was in unlawful detainer

of the subject premises on July 1, 1975, when she failed and refused to vacate by that day.

This Court is respectfully directed to the additional care and patience extended to Appellant by Respondent in this case, namely: (a) legal proceedings were not commenced until July 25, 1975, (R. 1); (b) Appellant was not served with process until July 31, 1975, (R. 7); (c) the summons provided for a full twenty days in which to answer the complaint (R. 6), as contrasted with the three day minimum provided for in Section 78-36-8, U.C.A, 1953; and (d) the Respondent refused to take any steps to enter Appellant's premises until the formal tender thereof in open court, in the absence of a prior tender by delivery of the keys, (R. 64).

According to Appellant counsel's representations, Appellant vacated at the earliest, Saturday, September 6, 1975, and formal tender was made September 10, 1975, in open court, (App. Br. 9, R. 47). The Court will note from the briefs that the offices of counsel for the respective parties are separated by a short distance, yet the answer and counterclaim were filed on the day of default, and mailed without any tender indications made at that time of either possession or rent.

The Appellant makes reference in her statement of facts that "The premises were owned by an absentee financial corporation under a resident manager ..." (App. Br. 3). This statement is no more relevant than is the fact that Appellant was a public welfare recipient (R. 45), but the point is that Respondent would certainly have preferred the recovery of its premises without the enormous expenses and worry incurred herein, rather than a paper



judgment of dubious value.

The Appellant arbitrarily elected to remain on real estate owned by another, after having been directed in accordance with law to vacate, and so it is difficult for Respondent to understand how it can be claimed that the trial court "arbitrarily" penalized the Appellant. It is customary for persons to be penalized when they unlawfully possess and use property belonging to others. Appellant remained on Respondent's premises for approximately two months and ten days after she was directed to vacate.

Incidentally, Respondent feels obliged to respond to Appellant's statements made on page 9 of her brief, wherein Appellant refers to comments made by this writer relative to return of the keys (R. 64). The Respondent respectfully points out its "no win" position in this case when the Appellant argues that a formal tender of the premises was not necessary by delivery of the keys, and yet it is obvious from the Appellant's answer and counter-claim on file (R. 8-12, inc.) that if Respondent had taken any steps to take possession without a formal tender, then its liability for forcible entry would have been enhanced, and its defense to this appeal diminished. It is a favorite game of tenants in recent times to leave a few items behind to "set the landlord up" for a forcible entry lawsuit promoted by a legal services or civil rights organization. Further, whatever was discussed between Appellant and her counsel is irrelevant to this writer and Respondent, since Respondent had instructions not to converse with Appellant, and professional ethics require this writer, as counsel, to receive communications from the other counsel. Counsel for Appellant does not contend that he

personally made a tender of the premises to this writer prior to the day of argument to the trial court.

Respondent respectfully submits that the trial court did not arbitrarily award treble damages to Respondent, but that such damages were well within his discretion, if not mandatorily required of him.

### POINT III

#### THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THE APPELLANT'S ANSWER AND COUNTERCLAIM TO BE A SHAM PLEADING

Rule 11, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, reads as follows:

Every pleading of a party represented by an attorney shall be signed in his individual name by at least one attorney who is duly licensed to practice in the state of Utah. The address of the attorney and that of the party shall be stated. Every party who is not represented by an attorney shall sign his pleadings and state his address. Except when otherwise specifically provided by rule, pleadings need not be verified or accompanied by an affidavit. The signature of any attorney constitutes a certificate by him that he has read the pleading; that to the best of his knowledge, information and belief there is good ground to support it, and that it is not interposed for delay. If a pleading is not signed or is signed with intent to defeat the purpose of this rule it may be stricken as sham and false and the action may proceed as though the pleading had not been filed. For a wilful violation of this rule an attorney may be subjected to appropriate disciplinary action. Similar action may be taken if scandalous or indecent matter is inserted.

Rule 11 is mandatory, clear and unequivocal.

The Federal Courts have said that the purpose of Rule 11, F.R.C.P., is to hold the attorney of record who signs the pleading to strict accountability, and to keep out of the pleadings false facts and issues which the signing attorney knows to be false. See, American Auto Assn. v. Rothman, (D.C.N.Y., 1952) 104 F. Supp. 655; Freeman v. Kirby, (D.C.N.Y., 1961) 27 F.R.D. 395. According to Freeman v. Kirby, supra, the duty on the attorney is an

affirmative duty to certify to the pleadings.

This writer confesses that times are changing, lawyers are more bold and less disciplined, and the public is more intelligent and litigious. Bar associations are promoting specialization, efficiency, and the use of paralegals. Courts are encouraging laymen to represent themselves, and the time may be approaching when lawyers are truly an unnecessary evil in our society. This case poses some of the problems squarely for this Court to speak on.

Counsel for Appellant refused to state into the record who prepared the answer and counterclaim on file and the trial judge indicated he did not feel that he had the authority to force such statement in the record (R. 50-51). The exact scenario reads as follows:

MR. BRANN: Your Honor, I want answered first who prepared the answer and counterclaim.

MR. VLAHOS: None of your business.

MR. BRANN: I want this in the record, your Honor.

MR. VLAHOS: It is none of your business.

THE COURT: He is not willing to tell you.

MR. VLAHOS: I am prepared to subscribe my name to all pleadings.

MR. BRANN: Well, as I indicated, your Honor, I believe that an issue in this case is the matter of paralegal people who are not admitted to the bar practicing law before the bar.

THE COURT: Well, and that may be something that you would want to produce evidence on, but I don't know I can compel him to say who prepared the pleadings.

Respondent respectfully suggests that it is a fair inference from the

record the Appellant's counsel did not prepare the answer and counterclaim, and that his failure to sign the same was not the result of neglect or inadvertance. The fact is that the answer and counterclaim does not contain a signature line for counsel, nor the address of Appellant (R. 12). This is not the only experience this writer has had with pleadings not signed by Appellant's counsel.

Respondent does believe that this Court has authority to ask Appellant's counsel: (a) who prepared the answer and counterclaim; (b) did you read it before it was filed; and (c) was the lack of an attorney's signature line and signature the result of neglect or inadvertance.

The fact is that Appellant's counsel has an admirable and efficient legal business involving knowledgeable paralegals who free counsel for court appearances. Among these paralegals is an individual trained in the law, but not licensed to practice in the State of Utah, who has jousted with the Utah State Bar right up to the U. S. Supreme Court for admittance. See, Sam A. Herscovitz v. Board of Commissioners of the Utah State Bar, 407 U. S. 924, 32 L.Ed. 2d 811, 92 S. Ct. 2457. Some paralegal pleadings are practically identifiable by the repetitious allegations of wilful misconduct and enormous prayers for general damages, exemplary damages, and attorney's fees.

Assuming, for purposes of argument, that such paralegals are smarter, more able, and more knowledgeable than members of the Bar, the fact remains that there are no controls unless the Bar, and the judiciary, take control. A great social and professional issue is involved here that must be carefully

analyzed and circumscribed with proper consideration given the changing times. If there are not any rules governing paralegals, then all lawyers should be so notified in order that they can remain competitive.

After the foregoing commentary, the Respondent directs its attention to the arguments made by Appellant. First, the fact that Appellant signed her pleading does not rectify the mandatory requirement that counsel must sign the pleading where Appellant is represented by counsel. The thrust of Appellant's argument is that she is now, and was, represented by counsel, and certainly the pleading was prepared in a law office. The requirement of Rule 11, U.R.C.P., cannot be circumvented as a matter of course by the litigant signing or the attorney certifying to the pleading after the fact.

Respondent concedes that Appellant is entitled to represent herself in judicial proceedings, but there is not any pretense that she is doing so in this case.

The case cited by Appellant, namely, West Mountain Lime and Stone Co. v. Danley, 38 Utah 218, 111 Pac. 647, was decided in 1910. The Utah Rules of Civil Procedure were adopted in 1949 and became effective in 1950. Presumably, this Court was mindful of the West Mountain Lime case, *supra*, when it adopted Rule 11, U.R.C.P., and, in any case, the salutary rule in that case could possibly apply again if inadvertance or neglect were the reasons for such omission of counsel's signature with subsequent ratification.

Finally, in reference to the case of West Mountain Lime, *supra*, the Respondent respectfully suggests: (a) The defect was timely objected to in this case by motion; (b) The issue of "retaliatory eviction" was

moot by the time of argument to the trial court, since Appellant had vacated the premises; (c) The answer and counterclaim was dismissed as a "sham," but not with prejudice; (d) The Appellant did not submit any meritorious reason to the trial court, nor does she submit any such reason to this Court, for the omission of counsel's signature; and (e) A separate tort claim is not properly joined in unlawful detainer proceedings.

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